# FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA SID J WHITE

SEP 7 1995

JAMES PATRICK BONIFAY,

Appellant,

CLERK, SUPPEME COURT By \_\_\_\_\_\_ Chief Deputy Clerk

v.

CASE NO.: 84,918

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

#### APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

> Division "A" Honorable Michael Jones, Presiding

\* Du notice of Filing amondment

allo

MICHAEL R. ROLLO FBN: 970018 3 West Garden St., Suite 380 Pensacola, Florida 32501 (904) 438-8165 \* 438-8241 Attorney for Appellant

##

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In this brief, the Appellant, Mr. Patrick Bonifay, will be referred to by name or as the Appellant or Defendant. The Appellee will be referred to as the State.

Citations to the record on appeal will be made by the letter "R", and the appropriate page number. The transcript of the Penalty Phase hearings will be referred to by "TR", followed by the appropriate page number.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, Patrick Bonifay, James was originally convicted of first-degree murder, armed robbery, and grand theft, and was subsequently sentenced to death by the Honorable Lacy Collier on September 21, 1991. An appeal was taken, and following this Court's decision and mandate in Bonifay v. State, 626 So.2d 1310 (Fla. 1993), the penalty phase of the case was re-tried on October 17, 18, and 19, 1994, with the Honorable Michael T. Jones, Following the close of evidence, the jury was presiding. instructed, deliberated, and returned an advisory sentencing recommendation of death on a ten (10) to two (2) vote. (R-40). The foreperson was a former Assistant State Attorney. (TR-9-10).

On December 06, 1994, the Honorable Judge Jones pronounced sentence. The Judge considered three statutory aggravating circumstances, five statutory mitigating circumstances, and six non-statutory mitigating circumstances, imposed a sentence of death, and signed the appropriate orders to effect sentence. (R-100-115). This timely appeal followed. (R-116). The case is

therefore presently before the Court on Appeal from the penalty phase re-trial.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The evidence at the penalty phase re-trial showed that in March 1990 Robin Archer was fired form his job in an auto parts store. The following January he convinced his seventeen-year-oldcousin, Pat Bonifay, to kill the clerk he apparently blamed for having him fired, one Daniel Wells. Archer told Bonifay to rob the store to cover up the motive for the killing, told him to wear a ski mask and gloves, and told him where the cash boxes and emergency exit were located. Bonifay asked for a friend, Kelly Bland to provide a handgun. Bland gave the gun to Archer who, in turn, gave the gun to Bonifay.

Bonifay enlisted two other friends, Cliff Barth and Eddie Fordham, to help him, and the trio went to the parts store just before midnight on Friday, January 24, 1991. Bonifay approached the night parts window and asked the clerk, who was Daniel Wells, for some parts. He could not go through with the plan, however, and the trio left. The following morning Archer harassed Bonifay about not killing the clerk. and the trio went back to the parts store that night. A different clerk, Wayne Coker, was working for Daniel Wells that night, however, and Bonifay and Barth each shot him once in the body from outside the store. They then crawled into the store through the parts window and broke open the cash boxes that Archer had told Bonifay about. During this time, the victim was lying on the floor begging for his life and talking

about his children. Bonifay told him to shut up and then shot him twice in the head. Bonifay and Barth then left the building and split the stolen cash with Fordham. The next day Archer refused to pay Bonifay because he killed the wrong person.

Bonifay later confessed at different times to Bland and Bland's girlfriend, Jennifer Tatum. Tatum informed the authorities, and Bonifay, Archer, Barth, and Fordham were arrested. Bonifay's trial followed, he was convicted, and the original advisory recommendation of death returned. Appeal, remand, and penalty phase re-trial was had, and the present appeal ensued.

During the penalty phase re-trial, the Defendant's expert psychologist, Dr. Larson, testified that the Defendant had a potential for rehabilitation. (TR-370-371). The court accepted Larson's testimony as establishing five statutory and six nonstatutory mitigators. (R-104-110).

Throughout his opening and closing argument, the prosecutor made expansive biblical alliterations and references. (TR-411-413). He referred to the Defendant as a Judas figure (TR-435), and stated that the Defendant should be "exterminated." (TR-441). He insinuated that the Defendant should be weighed in the balances, rather than the facts. (TR-448, 450). He stated seven times that the Defendant's mitigating circumstances were "dust." (TR-431-432, 439, 447-449).

Prior to trial, the Defendant's counsel moved to keep out references to the victim's begging for life and calling for mercy on behalf of his wife and children, stating that such evidence

would be improperly considered as a "heinous, atrocious, and cruel" aggravator by the jury, and that the court was limited by this Court's prior ruling in the case. (TR-114-117). The court denied the motion, the prosecutor established the evidence several times through testimony and referred to it at least four times in closing argument. (TR-133, 417, 435, 442, 449). The prosecutor had previously established the "cold, calculated, and premeditated" aggravator throughout the evidential phase of the trial. (TRthroughout).

The State also called the victim's widow, Ms. Sandra Coker, to the stand, and she offered improper victim impact evidence, referring to the problems and hurts that she had suffered after the murder. ((TR-329-331, 339). The Defendant objected and moved for a curative instruction, and the court gave one. (TR-333). The Defendant later moved for a mistrial, but the court denied it. (TR-339). The prosecutor later argued to the jury that the victim's last, dying thoughts were for his wife and children, and the Defendant cursed the victim and his family and killed the victim. (TR-449).

The jury was instructed, deliberated, and returned an advisory recommendation of death. (R-40). The court took the jury's advisory sentence under advisement, reviewed the record, and found the following aggravating circumstances: a) the murder had been committed in the course of a robbery [§921.141(5)(d), Florida Statutes]; b) the murder was committed for pecuniary gain [§921.141(5)(f), Florida Statutes]; and c) the murder was cold,

calculated, and pre-meditated [§921.141(5)(i), Florida Statutes]. (R-104-106).

The court found as statutory mitigation factors: 1) no [\$921.141(6)(a), Florida criminal history significant Statutes (given very little weight); 2) the commission of the crime was under extreme mental or emotional disturbance [§921.141(6)(b), Florida Statutes](apparently given no weight); 3) the Defendant acted under extreme duress or substantial domination of another person [§921.141(6)(e), Florida Statutes](apparently given no weight); 4) the Defendant was unable to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of law [§921.141(6)(f), Florida Statutes](given little weight); and 5) the Defendant's age [§921.141(6)(g), Florida Statutes](given some weight). (R-106-110).

The court found as non-statutory mitigators: 1) "The defendant experienced a less than ideal background" (some weight); 2) cooperation with law enforcement (no specified weight assigned); 3) potential for rehabilitation (some weight); 4) Defendant's remorse (some weight); 5) disparate co-defendant sentences (no weight). (R-110-113).

Finding that the mitigating factors did not outweigh the aggravating factors, and without stating precisely how they did not, the court imposed the death penalty. (R-114).

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Upon advisement of the jury, the court did not properly evaluate the Defendant's factors in mitigation. Because the court failed to consider the Defendant's organic brain damage, it consequently assigned an improper weight to the Defendant's potential for rehabilitation and to the statutory mitigating factor of the Defendant's inability to appreciate the criminality of his acts or to conform to the requirements of the law. The court did not specify how it assigned weight to the mitigators, and it then compared the statutory and non-statutory mitigators to the aggravators without detailing the results of either the weighing or the comparison. This was improper under the Supreme Court's decisional guidelines for establishing a record that can be reviewed, and the case must be remanded for re-computation, reevaluation, and resentencing.

The prosecutor improperly swayed the jurors' emotions by invoking the retribution of an angry God in his closing arguments; he implied that the Defendant was a Judas Iscariot or a King Belshazzar; he urged the jury to weigh the Defendant rather than evaluate the facts; he vilified the Defendant by urging the jury to "exterminate" him; the prosecutor appealed to the jurors' sympathies by putting on improper victim impact evidence; the prosecutor referred numerous times to the victim's begging for life, and all of these factors, whether viewed singly or combined, deprived the Defendant of a fair trial, and require reversal for a new penalty phase trial.

The court erred in allowing the "begging" testimony; the court erred in not granting *sua sponte* a mistrial for the prosecutor's "extermination" recommendation; and the court erred in not granting a mistrial for the improper victim impact testimony. All of these errors, whether viewed singly or combined, and when viewed with the overall conduct of the trial, deprived the Defendant of a fair trial, and require reversal for a new penalty phase trial.

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE ONE

The Court failed to make a specific finding in its Sentencing Order regarding the weight of the Defendant's expert uncontroverted evidence of a pathological medical condition, and that the organic brain damage did not substantially impair or affect the Defendant's ability to appreciate the criminality of his acts, or to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law.

In Larkins v. State, 20 FLW S228 (Fla. 1995), Opinion filed May 11, 1995, this Court recently reversed for resentencing a case wherein the trial court had not expressly evaluated each mitigating circumstance so that this Court could "make a meaningful proportionality review." Id., at 230. Citing Ferrell v. State, 653 So.2d 367 (Fla. 1995), and <u>Campbell v. State</u>, 571 So.2d 415 (Fla. 1990), this Court found that the trial court's summary rejection of expert evidence of mitigating circumstances, including organic brain damage, caused reversal for reevaluation and resentencing.

In the sentencing order here, the trial court considered several psychological factors regarding Defendants' mental and emotional state cited by Defendant's expert, but failed to cite the organic brain damage and its possible impact as establishing the Defendant's capability to appreciate his criminal conduct or conform to the law.<sup>1</sup> This mitigator was established by Dr.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In <u>Larkins</u>, this Court found that the lower court did not specify whether and how the expert's testimony as to organic brain damage failed to establish any mitigating circumstances. Here, the Court considered several factors from Dr. Larson's testimony regarding the Defendant, such as verbal and applied or performance intelligent quotients, attention deficit syndrome, dysthymic disorder, personality disorder, negative self-image, childhood abuse, and history of depression and suicide, but did not discuss the organic damage as the possible cause of any of the above. As

Larson's uncontradicted testimony, and the court failed to acknowledge it, or to indicate the relative weight this particular mitigator should have merited individually with the organic damage's inclusion.

,

Neither did the court address the placement of this firmly established mitigator in the mitigation hierarchy, especially as affecting the overall weight of the other statutory and non-statutory mitigators, and certainly as how the mitigators would have compared with the aggravators. (R-108-110). Ironically in fact, the court specifically found that Larson's testimony **did not** establish the mitigator, and that even if it was established, it was "entitled to little or no weight." (R-110).<sup>2</sup>

In short, this Court cannot evaluate from the record whether the trial court considered the impact of the organic brain damage as a cause of, or whether, it may have substantially impaired or affected the Defendant's ability to appreciate the

in <u>Larkins</u>, the lower court here did not discuss whether and how the organic brain damage testimony factored into the establishment of the statutory mitigator, or how that mitigator, if it was once established, may have counterbalanced any aggravators.

As this Court said in <u>Ferrell</u>, "[t]he sentencing judge must expressly evaluate in his or her written sentencing order each statutory and non-statutory mitigating circumstance proposed by the defendant . . . "<u>Id</u>. at 371. "Once established [by the greater weight of reasonable evidence], the mitigator is weighed against any aggravating circumstances. It is within the sentencing judge's discretion to determine the relative weight given to each established mitigator; however, some weight must be given to all established mitigators. The result of this weighing process <u>must be</u> <u>detailed</u> in the written sentencing order and supported by sufficient competent evidence in the record. The absence of any of the enumerated requirements deprives this Court of the opportunity for meaningful review." <u>Id</u>. (emphasis supplied).

criminality of his acts, or to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law. The trial court further did not state its findings on this factor in its sentencing order as required by <u>Larkins</u>, <u>Ferrell</u>, <u>Campbell</u>, and other foundational precedent. This was error.

Therefore, in light of the lower court's sentencing omissions, and on the basis of the authorities cited above and other arguments and authorities contained in this brief, <u>infra</u>, at a minimum this case should be remanded for a re-evaluation and reweighing of mitigating and aggravating circumstances.

#### ISSUE TWO

The evidentiary record of enumerated mitigating circumstances and their weight in comparison to the aggravating circumstances does not support the Court's sentence of death, and the evidence does not otherwise support the findings and/or conclusions of this court.

Because failed the lower court consider to uncontradicted, probative, record evidence of а statutory mitigating circumstance and its component, as indicated in Issue One, above, it cannot be said as a matter of law that the court's sentence is supported by substantial, competent evidence which properly excluded all other evidence and weight of mitigating factors. It further cannot be established from the record whether and to what degree the mitigating circumstances were properly compared against the aggravating circumstances.

Overall, the trial court considered the existence of five statutory mitigating circumstances and six non-statutory mitigating factors, in comparison with three statutory aggravating

circumstances. As aggravating circumstances, the court found that evidence established: a) the murder had been committed in the course of a robbery [§921.141(5)(d), Florida Statutes]; b) the murder was committed for pecuniary gain [§921.141(5)(f), Florida Statutes]; and c) the murder was cold, calculated, and premeditated [§921.141(5)(i), Florida Statutes]. (R-104-106).

The court found the following statutory mitigation factors: 1) no significant criminal history [§921.141(6)(a), Florida Statutes](given very little weight); 2) the commission of the crime was under extreme mental or emotional disturbance [§921.141(6)(b), Florida Statutes](apparently given no weight); 3) the Defendant acted under extreme duress or substantial domination of another person [§921.141(6)(e), Florida Statutes](apparently given no weight); 4) the Defendant was unable to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of law [§921.141(6)(f), Florida Statutes](given little weight); and 5) the Defendant's age [§921.141(6)(g), Florida Statutes](given some weight). (R-106-110).

Non-statutory mitigators were: 1) "The defendant experienced a less than ideal background" (some weight); 2) cooperation with law enforcement (no specified weight assigned); 3) potential for rehabilitation (some weight); 4) Defendant's remorse (some weight); 5) disparate co-defendant sentences (no weight). (R-110-113). Finding that the mitigating factors did not outweigh the aggravating factors, and without stating precisely how they did not, the court imposed the death penalty. (R-114).

In <u>Santos v. State</u>, 591 So.2d 160 (Fla. 1993), this Court considered whether the trial court improperly denied evidence that established statutory and non-statutory mitigating factors other than those that appeared in the court's sentencing order. The Court noted evidence of two statutory mitigators, which were considered but rejected by the lower court, and one non-statutory mitigator not considered.<sup>3</sup> Finding that mitigating evidence must at least be weighed in the balance if the record discloses it to be both believable and uncontroverted, particularly where it is derived from unrefuted factual evidence, this Court recited its three-part test for weighing mitigating circumstances, stating

[T]he trial court's first task . . . is to consider whether the facts alleged in mitigation are supported by the evidence. After the factual finding has been made, the court then must determine whether the established facts are of a kind capable of mitigating the defendant's punishment, i.e., factors that, in fairness or in the totality of the defendant's life or character may be considered as extenuating or reducing the degree of moral culpability for the crime committed. If such factors exist in the record at the time of sentencing, the sentencer must determine whether they are of sufficient weight to counterbalance the aggravating factors.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The <u>Santos</u> Court found two statutory mitigators not considered by the trial court, i.e., "influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance," and "substantial impairment in [Defendant's] capacity to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law." §921.141(6)(b),(f), Fla.Stat. (1987). <u>Id</u>., at 164. The Court also found evidence suggesting that Santos lived in an "abusive environment as a child," a valid nonstatutory mitigating factor. <u>Id</u>., citing <u>Carter v. State</u>, 560 So.2d 1166 (Fla. 1990); and <u>Brown v. State</u>, 526 So.2d 903 (Fla. 1988), cert. denied, 488 U.S. 944, 109 S.Ct. 371, 102 L.Ed.2d 361 (1988) (emphasis supplied). Here, although the record clearly established the Defendant's "abusive environment as a child," the court apparently minimized this factor by calling it "a less than ideal family background," and giving it "some weight." (Sentencing Order, R-110).

Santos, at 164. (internal citations omitted).

The <u>Santos</u> Court then discussed the United States Supreme Courts' ability and willingness to "[delve] deeply into the record" in capital cases to examine whether unconsidered mitigating factors exist, whether they were properly weighed by the trial court, and whether mitigating evidence has been ignored. <u>Id</u>., at 164, citing <u>Parker v. Dugger</u>, \_\_\_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_\_, 111 S.Ct. 731, 112 L.Ed.2d 812 (1991). Finding that the trial court did not properly evaluate and weigh the uncontroverted evidence of statutory and non-statutory mitigators, the <u>Santos</u> Court reversed with instructions.

Here, the lower court evaluated the evidence of statutory and non-statutory mitigators, but as recited under Issue One, above, for instance, the court did not fully evaluate each mitigation factor sufficiently enough to consider the weight of the mitigator. Further, the trial court did not evaluate the overall weight of each of the mitigating circumstances and their combined weight in counterpoise against the aggravating circumstances. Given the court's deficiencies in evaluating, weighing, and comparing the mitigating versus aggravating circumstances, the case must be remanded for a sentencing re-hearing.

#### **ISSUE THREE**

The evidence does not support the Court's conclusion that the Defendant is not capable of rehabilitation.

Dr. Larson testified that even though the Defendant was compulsive, he had some good intellectual abilities, that "he tries to improve himself" and that he had a lot of characteristics indicating a potential for rehabilitation. (TR-370-371). The

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