# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J VAITE

DEC 11 1995

JAMES PATRICK BONIFAY,

Appellant,

CLERK, SUPPLEME COURT

Chia Departy Clerk

v.

CASE NO. 84,918

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CURTIS M. FRENCH ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 291692

OFFICE OF ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

##

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

The merciless killing of Billy Wayne Coker is the classic case of "murder for hire" -- a contract murder. James Patrick Bonifay was a willing and able instrument of death for Robin Archer's evil plan of revenge. Whether payment was to be the money taken in the robbery or a suitcase of money, Bonifay was willing to pursue and to carry out Archer's plan to coldly and mercilessly murder a stranger for hire. Bonifay procured the handgun, he enlisted Fordham and Barth to assist him he procured ammunition, he obtained ski masks to conceal their identities from the surveillance camera and bolt cutters to open the cash box, and he instructed Barth and Fordham as they carried out the deadly plan. Even after the first attempt was abandoned, Bonifay was willing and did try again the following night. Bonifay fired two bullets into Billy Wayne Coker without warning. While Coker disabled on the floor by the initial wounds, Bonifay was completed the robbery. Then, while the dying man pleaded for his life and for compassion for his wife and children, Bonifay placed the gun to Coker's head and coldly fired two more bullets into his head at point blank range -- execution style.

The plan proceeded over a period of several days -- ample time for reflection. When the first attempt was abandoned, Bonifay tried again the next night and succeeded. He shot to death Billy Wayne Coker, believing him to be the clerk Archer had commissioned him to kill. This crime, most assuredly, exhibits a degree of cold, calculated cunning and planning over time and a murder ruthlessly and mercilessly committed sufficient to illustrate the 'heightened premeditation' necessary to establish beyond any reasonable doubt this aggravating circumstance.

4. The other statutory aggravating circumstances are inapplicable in this case.

#### (B) Statutory Mitigating Circumstances:

1. The defendant has no significant history of prior criminal activity. (Section 921.141(6)(a), Florida Statutes)

While the defendant's history of prior criminal activities admitted prior violent criminal not extraordinary, he The defendant admitted involvement in a burglary in activity. Mississippi in which someone was stabbed six or seven months before the murder. Additionally, he committed burglary and grand theft in Escambia County, Florida, although his convictions statutory mitigating occurred after the murder. This circumstance is entitled to very little weight.

2. The crime was committed while the defendant was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance. (Section 921.141(6)(b), Florida Statutes)

Clifford Barth testified at the penalty phase proceedings that Bonifay did not appear to him to be high on drugs, but that he <u>could</u> have been under the influence of alcohol or drugs. Bonifay testified he smoked a joint of pot laced with cocaine

before he went to the auto parts store on Saturday night. However, the defendant's masterful execution of the murderous plan and his clear recollection of the events surrounding the robbery and murder belie any claim that he was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance.

3. The defendant acted under extreme duress or under the substantial domination of another person. (Section 921.141(6)(e), Florida Statutes)

The evidence that Bonifay acted in response to the threats of Robin Archer comes primarily from the self-serving statements of the defendant. Certainly, Robin Archer concocted the scheme with revenge in mind, and he procured the defendant to carry it out. However, Bonifay admits he was willing to kill this man for whatever money was in the suitcase. He got Barth and Fordham involved; he got the gun, the ski masks, the bullets, and the bolt cutters; and he told the others where to park the car, how to gain entry, where the cash boxes were located, and how to exit the store.

Bonifay testified that when Archer learned he had not carried out the plan the first night, Archer became angry and told him he was going to kill Bonifay's mom and girlfriend if he did not do it. Upon further questioning, he testified that Archer actually said, "Do you like your mom and Ray?' When Bonifay asked what he meant, Archer said 'to take it like you want to." Bonifay says he interpreted this to mean that he was going to have them killed.

However, no such threat was present the first night when Bonifay recruited Fordham and Barth and gathered the tools to

carry out the plan. His actions in preparing for and carrying out the murderous scheme reflect a clear, cool, and crafty mind, singularly dedicated to the diabolical plan. No credible evidence exists to support his claim that he fired four lethal shots into the body of Billy Wayne Coker in response to the substantial domination of Robin Archer.

4. The capacity of the defendant to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired. (Section 921.141(6)(f), Florida Statutes)

Patrick Bonifay's mother testified he had problems in school, he was extremely overactive and disruptive, and he had a lot of behavior problems. He took Ritalin in one of his ninth grade years and was expelled once. He admitted to Dr. Gilgun he was expelled for breaking another student's jaw in a fight at Escambia High School.

Dr. James Larson, a Psychologist, evaluated Bonifay prior to the new penalty phase proceeding and administered a number of psychological tests on him. He determined Bonifay's verbal IQ was 98 -- which is in the average range -- and his performance IQ was 117. This 19 point difference indicated to Dr. Larson that Bonifay has some cognitive disorder, such as attention deficit He confirmed that the school identified in about the disorder. fifth grade that Bonifay had an attention deficit disorder and placed him in an emotionally handicapped classroom for a number of years. This disorder means Bonifay's ability to attend and Also, Dr. Larson found Bonifay to concentrate is impaired. exhibit impulsive behavior as a part of his attention deficit disorder.

Additionally, Dr. Larson testified Bonifay had a dysthymic disorder, referring to depression. He said it is at a level which is chronic, but not present every day and it is "a very common disorder seen in the general population." Dr. Larson also said Bonifay exhibited a personality disorder, referring to a personality functioning that is unstable, exhibiting mood swings, possible irrationality, difficulty maintaining relationships, and susceptibility to being easily guided by According to Dr. Larson, Bonifay has a negative selfanother. image as a result of his disruptive home environment, which included his biologic father's abuse of him and his mother. turn, Bonifay feels rejected and is an angry person, in conflicts with peers and with authority figures.

Finally, Dr. Larson noted Bonifay had a history of suicidal ideation and perhaps two or three attempts or gestures. Yet, he acknowledged some of Bonifay's medical records reveal he denied suicidal ideations.

In terms of talents, Dr. Larson said of Bonifay: 'He's better than the average college freshman in terms of problem solving when he can look at things and try to put things together, good judgment in that area. He was able to read quite early on and at an advanced level actually and he reads at an excess of the 12th grade level.'

Dr. Larson acknowledged that another psychologist, Dr. Gilgun, indicated the defendant had fairly good insight and judgment. Bonifay knows the difference between right and wrong, according to Dr. Larson, and he has no psychosis or major mental illness.

Clearly proof of this mitigating circumstance does not require proof of insanity. However, the evidence must reveal some mental problems that limit the defendant's capacity to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law. In this case, Patrick Bonifay deliberated coolly and calmly and carefully composed a plan to effect Archer's scheme for revenge. He methodically carried out the plan and deliberately executed Billy Wayne Coker at the conclusion of the robbery. The evidence does not appear to support this mitigator. Nevertheless, if it is established it is entitled to little weight.

5. The age of the defendant at the time of the crime. (Section 921.141(6)(g), Florida Statutes)

Patrick Bonifay was 17 when he carried out this capital murder. This is a mitigating factor which is entitled to some weight. However, age, standing alone, is simply another fact which, if it is to be accorded significant weight, must be linked with some other characteristic of the defendant, such as immaturity. No such linkage is found in this case. In fact, as Dr. Larson said, the defendant is better that the average college freshman at problem solving. The evidence and this Court's observations reveal the defendant is independent and reasonably mature. Dr. Larson's evaluations did not contradict the observations.

The evidence did not establish the existence of any other statutory mitigating circumstance.

### (C) Non-Statutory Mitigating Circumstances

As required, this Court has considered evidence concerning the defendant's background, including testimony relative to the defendant's upbringing, employment, family and social ties, mental health, intellect, personality, education, emotional development, and potential for rehabilitation.

1. The defendant experienced a less than ideal family background.

The defendant had a difficult childhood. His father was abusive to him and to his mother. They were divorced when he was quite young and he lived with other relatives off and on. shuffled from home to home, and his relationship with his father was one of severe rejection. His negative self-image was very much influenced by the disruptive home environment, and, as a result, he has a need to prove himself and to accentuate his masculinity, and he has a lot of anger. Dr. Larson said, '[I]f you stop and look about the examples he had when he was growing up, what was demonstrated was drunkenness and reckless use of power and abuse, physical abuse and violence, and I think those are the things that brought him here today.' Further, there is conflicting evidence that the defendant suffered an episode of sexual abuse by his father. However, the defendant has, at times, denied this ever occurred. While the evidence does not establish that this family background prevented the defendant from conforming his conduct to the norms of society or the requirements of the law, this mitigating circumstance is entitled to some weight.

2. The defendant has exhibited good behavior while incarcerated.

Little weight is given this mitigating circumstance. It is easy, and expected, to behave in jail, especially when a substantial portion of the time is spent on death row.

3. The defendant cooperated with law enforcement.

While it is true the defendant confessed to the crime following his arrest, testified at trial, and led law enforcement officers to the location of some property taken in the robbery, his stories have been varied, incomplete, and self-serving. Certainly, there was no exceptional cooperation of defendant's part.

4. The defendant has a potential for rehabilitation.

The defendant had a difficult time in school. Some of his problems apparently resulted from his attention deficit disorder. However, he was in night school at the time of his arrest on Also, Dr. Larson said he is better than the these charges. average college freshman in terms of problem solving, he reads in excess of the 12th grade level, and he has some good intellectual Larson testified specifically regarding Bonifay's abilities. rehabilitative potential: "He likes to have things organized and work on deficiencies, try to improve himself and so forth so if you look at it from that point of view, he certainly has a lot of characteristics that would indicate that he has potential for The defendant's rehabilitative potential is entitled to some weight. However, the expert did not express an opinion about the impact of Bonifay's cognitive disorder and personality disorder upon his rehabilitative potential, and this Court notes that the evidence reveals Bonifay had the benefit of significant therapeutic intervention prior to this capital murder.

5. The defendant is remorseful about the death of Billy Wayne Coker.

The evidence suggests some remorse by Bonifay. While in jail he reported having nightmares in which he saw the face of his victim, and he reportedly sought out a psychologist to talk to about his guilt regarding the victim's family. Sandra Coker, the victim's widow, said Bonifay is trying to cooperate in a civil lawsuit she has filed against a third party arising out of This Court finds that the defendant's the criminal episode. primary remorse is for the predicament in which he finds himself. While his haunting image of the victim may indicate a potential for a conscience, the defendant's statements of concern are Nevertheless, considering the self-serving. primarily defendant's written comments to the Court and his cooperation with the victim's widow in her civil suit, this non-statutory mitigating circumstance is entitled to some weight.

### 6. The disparate sentences of codefendants.

The codefendants, Eddie Fordham and Clifford Barth, received sentences of life in prison, without possibility of parole for 25 years. Juries recommended death for Robin Archer and Patrick Bonifay. The mitigating factor of disparate sentences for codefendants applies only to disparate treatment of equally culpable defendants. This Court has found, as did the juries, that Archer conceived the plan and procured Bonifay to commit the murder. Bonifay and Archer obtained the gun, and Archer directed Bonifay to kill the clerk, which he did, mercilessly. Bonifay enlisted the aid of Fordham to drive and Barth to assist. Clearly, the preeminent culpability for the capital murder rests with Archer -- who has been sentenced to death -- and Bonifay.

This Court agrees wholeheartedly with what Judge Collier said: "The Court understands and concurs in the assessment of the legal culpability of these two codefendants made by the State and distinctions recognized in their cases. In not seeking the death penalty, the state fulfilled its responsibility to seek justice in all cases." This mitigating circumstance is entitled to no weight.

No other non-statutory mitigating circumstances were reasonably established by the evidence.

#### Conclusion

As the law requires, this Court has given great weight to the death recommendation of the jury in making the ultimate decision whether the death penalty should be imposed and takes particular note that ten members of the jury voted for the death penalty. In addition, sufficient statutorily defined aggravating factors exist to justify the death penalty in this case, and the mitigating circumstances — both statutory and nonstatutory — do not outweigh the aggravating factors. The facts of this case clearly place it within the class of capital murders for which the death penalty is appropriate.

It is therefore, ordered that the defendant, James Patrick Bonifay, is adjudicated guilty of the crime of murder in the first degree, and is committed to the custody of the Department of Corrections of the State of Florida to be punished by death by electrocution or as otherwise provided by law. (R 100-114)

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

There are eight issues on appeal: (1) The trial court fully addressed Bonifay's attention deficit disorder, even if the court did not use the phrase "organic brain damage" to describe that There was no testimony to indicate that common disorder. attention deficit disorder is a substantial impairment; on the Bonifay's own expert testified that Bonifay was contrary, intelligent and suffered no major mental illness; (2) The trial court's thoughtful and judicious 16-page sentencing order fully satisfied the requirements of Florida sentencing law; Contrary to Bonifay's contention, the trial court did find that Bonifay has rehabilitation potential, and gave some nonstatutory mitigator some weight; (4) Any issue prosecutor's use of biblical references in his closing argument has been procedurally defaulted by the lack of any objection to such argument at trial; (5) The prosecutor was entitled to urge that death is the appropriate penalty, and his choice of word to describe the imposition of a death penalty does not rise to the level of reversible error; (6) The fact that Bonifay ruthlessly shot the victim in the head as the latter begged for his life on behalf of his wife and children was a relevant circumstance of the offense that Bonifay himself committed; (7) No improper victim-impact evidence was admitted; (8) There was no cumulative error.

#### ARGUMENT

### ISSUE ONE